## **Executive**

Excerpt of the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 7 February 2018 at the Town Hall, Royal Leamington Spa, at 6.00 pm.

**Present:** Councillor Mobbs (Leader); Councillors Butler, Coker, Grainger,

Phillips, Rhead, Thompson and Whiting.

Also present: Councillors; Boad (Liberal Democrat Observer); Naimo (on

behalf of Overview & Scrutiny); and Councillor Quinney (on behalf of Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee and Labour Group

Observer).

#### 103. **Declarations of Interest**

There were no declarations of interest.

#### 104. Minutes

The minutes of the meetings held on 1 November 2017 and 29 November were taken as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2017 were taken as read, subject to them being amended to remove Councillor Heath from the record of those present, and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

#### Part 1

(Items on which a decision by Council on 21 February 2018 was required)

#### 105. 2018/19 General Fund Budget & Council Tax

The Executive considered a report from Finance that informed them of Council's financial position, bringing together the latest and original Budgets for 2017/18 and 2018/19, plus the Medium Term Forecasts until 2022/23. It advised upon the net deficit from 2022/23 and the savings required to balance future years' Budgets.

The report sought approval of the Latest Budget 2017/18, Original 2018/19 Budget, this Council's Band D Council Tax charge for 2018/19, 5 Year Capital Programme, Prudential Indicators for 2018/19, the latest Reserves and Schedules, Financial Strategy, Equipment Renewal and ICT Replacement Schedules, Ear Marked Reserve Requests for slippage to 2018/19 Budgets and appropriation of New Homes Bonus and General Fund balances.

These would be recommendations to Council in February alongside a separate report recommending the overall Council Tax Charges 2018/19 for Warwick District Council.

Despite significant cuts in Government Funding, this Council had been able to set a balanced Budget for 2018/19 without having to reduce the

services it provided. This had been the case for many years as a result of the Fit for the Future Programme the Council adopted. It had not had to rely on New Homes Bonus to support core revenue spending and had been able to allocate this funding to project work and replenish reserves. Alongside this, the Council achieved a surplus on its 2017/18 Budget. However, the Council's financial projections showed that further savings needed to be secured from 2019/20 onwards.

By law, the Council must set a balanced budget before the beginning of the financial year. It must levy a council tax from its local tax payers to meet the gap between expenditure and resources available.

It was prudent to consider the medium term rather than just the next financial year, taking into account the longer term implications of decisions in respect of 2018/19. Therefore, a 5 year Financial Strategy, Capital Programme and Reserves Schedule was also provided.

The Local Government Act 2004, Section 3, stated that the Council must set an authorised borrowing limit. The CIPFA Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities stated the Council should annually approve Prudential Indicators.

The Chief Financial Officer was required to report on the robustness of the estimates made and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves, which was set out at Appendix 1 to the report.

In November 2017, Executive approved the Revised Base Budget with a surplus of £811,500 which was duly allocated as follows:-

•	Service Transformation Reserve	£150,000
•	Capital Investment Reserve	£150,000
•	Investment Volatility Reserve	£100,000
•	Early Retirement Reserve	£50,000
•	Car Park Displacement Reserve	£100,000
•	Contingency Budget 2018/19	£200,000
•	Contingency Budget 2017/18	£61,500

At that point, the latest budgets totalled £14,155,300. Since then, further work on these budgets had taken place and latest budgets revised to a total of £14,855,500 yielding a further £110,300 surplus.

Interest rates rose at the end of 2017 and Officers had updated the forecast Investment Interest in light of this and the latest forecast balances available. The latest forecast for the General Fund was £313,800, an increase on the £295,000 reported in November.

The Inflation Provision and Cleaning Contingency had not been utilised and it was unlikely that they would be during 2017/18. This yielded a total ongoing saving of £72,300.

Since the Council introduced its charging schedule for the recycling receptacles, the demand for these had decreased. It was possible to

reduce the Revenue Contribution to Capital for these by £45,000. This was expected to be recurring, although this would be reviewed annually.

Some of the 2017/18 budgets for projects would not be needed until 2018/19. A schedule was provided for Ear Marked Reserve Requests at Appendix 2 detailing these. This totalled £292,000 for the General Fund and £10,700 for the HRA.

Taking into account these changes to the latest budget for the current year, 2017/18 was forecast to produce a further surplus of £110,300. The use of this surplus was considered within the report.

In the November 2017 Report, Executive approved the General Fund Base Budget for 2018/19 of £16,254,400 then showing a £38,500 surplus. Since then there had been further budget changes. The latest forecast was £18,742,000 after allocation of the £15,200 surplus.

In January, Executive received a report on the new procurement arrangements for 2018/19. The £20,000 net additional cost had been built into budgets. The ICT Serve Re-design included a recurring saving of £50,000.

Business Rates Income and the Volatility Reserve had been updated to bring a £100,000 net additional income to the General Fund in 2018/19.

The following substantive posts had been included within the 2018/19 Budget, for which Executive was asked to approve the funding. These posts were subject to the changes to the Establishment being agreed by Employment Committee:

- the Sports Programme Manager and Officer for the Leisure Options Project had been recruited on an interim basis. These posts were currently funded until September 2018. However, it was apparent that to deliver this project and then move to Stage 2 Kenilworth, these Posts needed to be made permanent. The proposed 20018/19 Budget had been increased by £48,900 (6 months), with a full year effect from 2019/20.
- Due to the extended timeframe for the Office Relocation, the Projects Officer was proposed to be made permanent. £57,300 had been included in the 2018/19 Budget on a recurring basis.
- A new Strategic Opportunities Project Manager post had been created to assess Commercial and Strategic Opportunities requiring a recurring budget of £45,400. As discussed later in the report, the Council needed to identify significant ongoing savings or increased income. Part of the post's responsibility would be to identify new opportunities for income generation. Officers were aware that feasibility work was already required around a number of ideas including:
  - S Advertising & Sponsorship
  - § Energy efficiency, renewable energy and storage options
  - § Local Lottery

S Enterprise team delivery model (NB: Within the next Fit For the Future update report, further detail would be provided in respect of these and other ideas.

The 2018/19 and 2019/20 Pay Offer reflected the impact of the National Living Wage on the lower Pay Scales. This increased pay budgets by £48,000 above the 2% allowed for in the 2018/19 Base Budget.

Investment Interest had been recalculated. Income for 2018/19 was now some £125,000 higher than that reported in November 2017.

The grant for Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support Admin Subsidy had been reduced by £40,000 below what was budgeted. The 2018/19 Budget had been increased accordingly. However, with the further delays in the rollout of Universal Credit, it was hoped that there would be a supplementary allocation, details of which would be reported as part of future Budget Review reports.

Some temporary staffing posts were required for 2018/19 only. There was a peak in the licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) due to changes in legislation. This peak in workload needed to be managed in 2018/19. It was expected that additional fee income would cover these costs in future years. The the audited 2017/18 Accounts had to be published on the Council's website by the 31 July 2018. Previously, the deadline for this was 30 September each year. Piloting the new arrangements during the 2016/17 closedown had proved resource intensive. An additional six month fixed term post had been created for 2017/18 whilst officers reviewed its existing practices. A total of £137,000 had been built into 2018/19 Budgets to address these issues.

Taking into account the above changes, the Government Grant, Retained Business Rates and Council Tax, 2018/19 would present a surplus of £15,200.

As part of the 2016/17 Provisional Funding Settlement in December 2015, the Government proposed a four year settlement for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20. The future years' Revenue Support Grant (RSG) figures were shown below, alongside those for recent years:

	£000
2013/14	4,552
2014/15	3,515
2015/16	2,500
2016/17	1,587
2017/18	794
2018/19	307
2019/20	0

As part of the 2016/17 Settlement, the Government proposed that if authorities were to submit an Efficiency Statement and so accept the proposed figures, it would agree not to subsequently alter these figures

except in certain extreme circumstances. In common with the vast majority of local authorities, the Council submitted its efficiency statement which was subsequently accepted by the Government.

As anticipated, the RSG within the 2018/19 provisional settlement was unchanged. The figure of £307k had been incorporated within the Council's Medium Term Financial strategy (MTFS).

In presenting the RSG figures, the Government had made the following assumptions which served to mitigate the overall reduction in Core Spending Power.

- The Government projections assumed local authorities would increase council tax by the referendum limit (£5 for Warwick District Council).
   This continued to be a major departure from pre 2015 Government policy whereby local authorities were under pressure to freeze the council tax.
- Assumptions of growth in the council tax base to continue at current levels
- The Government made assumptions of future New Homes Bonus (NHB) payments to local authorities. Given the uncertainty over New Homes Bonus, the Council's policy had been to exclude this from core funding and this continued to be reflected in the projections within the Council's MTFS where future NHB payments were excluded.

For 2019/20, the Council would not be in receipt of any RSG, as allowed for within previous financial projections.

The provisional Settlement figures for 2019/20 continued to include "Tariff Adjustments" which would reduce the Council's element of retained Business Rates. These adjustments were widely seen as "Negative RSG". For this Council, the adjustment amounted to a further reduction in funding on 2019/20 of £237k. Nationally, the Tariff Adjustments totalled £153m. The Government was planning a consultation in Spring 2018 on how the Tariff Adjustments should be accommodated in future year's Finance Settlements. To date, the Tariff Adjustment had not been included within the Council's MTFS. However, it was believed to be prudent to allow for this adjustment, therefore, this had been factored into the MTFS as a recurring cost.

The final Grant Settlement was expected in early February. Updated figures, if changed, would be provided when available. Any change in the 2018/19 Revenue Support Grant was proposed to be compensated by changing the General Fund Balance.

A summary of the 2017/18 and 2018/19 was attached at Appendix 3 to the report.

Projecting the Council's element of Business Rate Retention continued to present difficulties.

There continued to be many appeals awaiting determination by the Valuation Office. An assessment of the success of these needed to be made and suitable provision had been allowed for within the estimated figures. Whilst it was hoped that this figure was suitably prudent, given the size and nature of some of the appeals, there was remaining risk. April 2017 saw the introduction of the new "Check, Challenge, Appeal" regime seeking to expedite appeals and deter speculative appeals. Following previous revaluations, backdated appeals continued to be lodged for several years. Accordingly, whilst the number of new appeals coming forward since April 2017 was minimal, it was expected that a significant number of appeals would come forward in subsequent years that would be backdated to 2017. It was necessary for an estimate of these future appeals to be allowed for in the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Estimates.

Tariff/Top-Up Adjustments existed in the system to redistribute business rates income between local authorities. With the 2017 Revaluation, it was necessary for each local authority's tariff or top-up to be re-based. The rebasing was intended to protect any growth that had accrued in the local business rates based since the commencement of business rates retention in April 2013. The Government had made an assessment of the adjustments necessary for the 2017/18 and 2018/19 figures. However, this would be reviewed following the closure of the 2017/18 accounts, meaning that further adjustments (positive or negative) were likely to the 2018/19 figures and beyond.

100% Business Rates Retention was originally expected to start in 2019/20. Due to limited Government time to consider this matter, it was now proposed that a scheme based around 75% retention would be brought in in 2020/21, using existing Regulations, without the need to introduce new legislation.

From 2020/21, the existing Baselines within the Business Rate Retention would be re-set. This would reflect the spending needs of individual local authorities to be determined by the Fair Funding Review which was currently on-going and consultation responses were sought by March 2018. The review would reflect the updated business rate bases of local authorities. It remained to be seen what growth in the local business rate base since 2013/14 would be allowed to be retained by local authorities.

As with all local authorities, 2020/21 represented a significant risk to the Council's finances with the intended changes to Business Rate Retention. If the Council's share of Business Rates returned to the Baseline, this would represent a potential reduction of over £1m in funding. The MTFS did allow for a reduction in funding back to the Baseline. However, this was mitigated by the use of approximately £600k from the Business Rate Retention Volatility Reserve from 2020/21; the use of the reserve at this level would only be sustainable for another two or three years based on current assumptions.

The estimates from 2020/21 were very uncertain, many local authorities would be severely impacted, potentially many far greater than Warwick due to the significant growth in their Business Rates base since 2013/14.

With the potential for substantial swings in local government funding, it was likely that some sort of safety net would be introduced that provided authorities time to manage large swings in their funding. The future information and figures from the Government would continue to be monitored, with the impact included in the Council's MTFS.

Largely due to the regulations governing the accounting arrangements for business rates retention, there would be substantial volatility between years in the amount of retained business rates credited to the General Fund. Consequently it was necessary to maintain a Volatility Reserve to "smooth" the year on year sums received.

Business Rates Estimates. For 2018/19, the net Business Rates Retention to the General Fund, had been increased by £100k to £3.9m. This was believed to be a prudent estimate. The NNDR1 form which estimated the business rates for 2018/19 was being finalised ahead of its deadline of 31 January 2018. This would produce some of the final figures that fed into the Business Rates Retention income for the Council for the year. It was not expected that there would be any great variation in the NNDR1 and what had been allowed in the proposed Budget. However, should there be any variation; this would be accommodated within the Business Rate Volatility Reserve.

Executive agreed on 1 November that the Council applied to be part of the proposed Warwickshire 100% Business Rates Retention Pooling Pilot for 2018/19. It was understood that there were many applications to be Pilot Pools, of which ten were accepted. The Warwickshire application was not successful. Therefore, the Council would continue to be a member of the Coventry and Warwickshire Pool for 2018/19 under the current 50% Business Rate Retention scheme.

The Business Rates retention within the MTFS was believed to be reasonably prudent taking into account all the above factors. These figures would continue to be reviewed and Members would be informed of changes as the MTFS was presented in future reports.

As announced within the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, District Councils could increase their share of the Council Tax by the greater of up to 3% and £5 without triggering a referendum. The increase to 3% from 2% would benefit many district councils, but for 88 districts, including Warwick District Council, it had no impact as £5 exceeded 3%.

The national average council tax for district councils was £179.25, and £218.41 including parish/town council precepts. This Council's council Tax charge for 2017/18 was £156.86 (excluding parish and town council precepts). This Council's charge was in the second lowest quartile and when Town and Parish Precepts were included it was within the lowest quartile.

The Council Tax Base was calculated in November of last year, with the Council's preceptors being notified accordingly. The Tax Base for 2018/19 was 53,388.87 Band D Equivalents. Whilst this was an increase of some

679.19 on 2017/18, it was short of that previously assumed in the Financial Strategy when last year's Tax Base was calculated (53,800). The reduced forecast growth in the tax base had been factored into the MTFS. This impacted upon the Council's estimated council tax income, resulting in additional savings required in future years.

The Council's element of the Council Tax was calculated by taking its total budget requirement, subtracting the total funding from Central Government in respect of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Retained Business Rates. This figure was divided by the 2018/19 tax base to derive the District Council Band D Council Tax Charge.

The recommendations within the report produced a Band D Council Tax for Warwick District (excluding parish/town council precepts) for 2018/19 of £161.86, this being a £5 increase on that of 2018/19. Based on this increase, the District's element of the Council Tax for each of the respective bands would be:

	£
Band A	107.91
Band B	125.89
Band C	143.88
Band D	161.86
Band E	197.83
Band F	233.8
Band G	269.77
Band H	323.72

Parish and town councils throughout the district were asked to submit their precepts for 2018/19 when informed of their Tax Bases. At the time of writing this report, not all precepts had been confirmed. It was estimated that the precepts would total just over £1,400,000 based on prior years. This figure did not take into account the grants that this Council would continue to award in respect of the Council Tax Support adjustments to the Tax Base, which it had been agreed that would cease after 2018/19. In the Provisional Finance Settlement, the government announced it would defer the setting of referendum principles for town and parish councils for three years. However, this was conditional upon the sector taking all available steps to mitigate the need for council tax increased, including the use of reserves where they were not already earmarked for other uses or for "invest to save" projects which would lower ongoing costs; and the government seeing clear evidence of restraint in the increases set by the sector as a whole.

The Council Tax was set by aggregating the council tax levels calculated by the major precepting authorities (the County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner) and the parish/town councils for their purposes with those for this Council. The report to the Council Meeting on the 21 February 2018 would provide all the required details. This would be published as soon as possible following the Police and Crime Commissioner

and Warwickshire County Council meetings, which were both due to be held on the 6 February. At the time of writing this report, it was assumed that all the Town/Parish Precepts would be returned. The Council would then be in a position to:-

- (a) consider the recommendations from the Executive as to the Council Tax for district purposes; and
- (b) formally to set the amount of the council tax for each Parish/Town, and within those areas for each tax band, under Section 30 of the 1992 Local Government Finance Act.

Council had a fiduciary duty to the Council Taxpayers of Warwick District Council. It had a duty to seek to ensure that the Council acted lawfully. They were under an obligation to produce a balanced budget and must not knowingly budget for a deficit. It must not come to a decision that no reasonable authority could come to, balancing the nature, quality and level of services that they considered should be provided, against the costs of providing such services.

Should any Councillor wish to propose additions or reductions to the budget, on which no information was given within the report, they must present sufficient information on the justification for and consequences of their proposals to enable the Executive (or the Council) to arrive at a reasonable decision. The report set out relevant considerations that enabled deliberations, including the statement at Appendix 1 to the report from the Chief Financial Officer.

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, stated that any member who had not paid their Council Tax or any instalment for at least two months after it was due, and which remained unpaid at the time of the meeting, must declare that at the meeting and not vote on any matter relating to setting the budget or making of the Council Tax and related calculations.

This Council's New Homes Bonus (NHB) for 2018/19 was £2,482k. This was an increase from the £1,938k awarded for 2017/18.

Following the announcements of 12 months ago, the following changes continued to be factored in to the NHB calculations:-

- Funding had been reduced from the previous six year's retrospective years to five years for 2017/18, to four years for 2018/19 and beyond. Had the six years been maintained, this would have presented the Council with an additional £400,000 New Homes Bonus in 2018/19.
- The baseline of 0.4% had continued for 2018/19. New Homes Bonus was only awarded on growth above this level. There was the possibility that the baseline was to be increased, this remained a risk for the future. For Warwick District Council, for 2018/19 the 0.4% baseline represented 249 dwellings. With the total growth of 925 Band D properties, the 2018/19 allocation was based on 676

- properties. The baseline was reducing the New Homes Bonus 2018/19 allocation by £300,000 and a similar amount for 2017/18 compared to the previous regime.
- The proposals to withhold payments for areas without a local plan, or for homes allowed on appeal, were not being implemented at this stage.

To date this Council had used the money to fund various schemes and initiatives and replenish some of its Reserves, and unlike many local authorities, had not used NHB to support core services. It continued to be the Council's policy to exclude new Homes Bonus in projecting future funding.

As in previous years, Waterloo Housing would receive part of this allocation from their agreement with the Council to deliver affordable Housing in the District. £170,287 was due to be paid to Waterloo in 2018/19. Section 3.13 of the report detailed how it was proposed to allocate the Residual Balance for 2018/19.

The Government had previously announced that local authorities could increase planning fees by 20% provided that it was ring-fenced to support the planning service. This Council had responded to the Government to state its intention to increase its planning charges. The 20% increase came in from 17 January 2018.

The extra 20% would generate approximately £250,000 per annum based on current estimates. The current baseline and income assumptions should be retained, with the extra income used to make improvements to support the planning function. It was proposed that the additional income was initially allocated to a new Planning Investment Reserve. The expenditure to be funded from the reserve needed to be specifically identified. In June 2017, within the Fit For the Future Executive report, it was agreed, that consequent budget apportionments of the additional income were determined by the S151 Officer in consultation with the Council's Senior Management Team.

To date, a new Green Space Officer had been agreed by the Employment Committee, funded by the 20% uplift, to support the increased work on Neighbourhood Services relating to the Local Plan. Further staffing investments were planned by Development Services and Health and Community Protection to be similarly funded. These would be subject to future reports to Employment Committee.

The funding of these posts from the 20% uplift would be funded from the apportionment of the income as determined by the Head of Finance.

The additional income would be monitored on an on-going basis so as to ensure the income was not over committed and could fund any agreed commitments. A prudent stance would be taken in projecting the funding and how it was utilised.

The Council currently paid the National Living Wage as set by the Living Wage Foundation, with this due to be reviewed annually as part of the Budget Setting process. In view of the increases to the Government National Living Wage, and the impact this would have on future grade differentials, it was agreed by the Employment Committee, and subsequently by Council, that the Council would freeze the current Living Wage Foundation rate of pay at the current level (£8.45 per hour or £16,300 pa), but that the frozen rate was increased in line with a 1% pay award on 1 April each year, subject to consideration as part of the overall budget setting process, until it was exceeded by National Living Wage, or the evaluated pay rate.

When this issue was considered by Employment Committee, it was anticipated that the national pay award for 2018/19 would be 1%. The current pay offer for 2018/19 (for which agreement was awaited) was based on a 2% increase. Consequently, subject to the acceptance of the pay offer, it was proposed to increase the current Living Wage hourly rate of £8.45 by 2%. As the numbers in receipt of the NLW were very low, this extra 1% would be able to be accommodated within existing Budgets.

The national planning fee increase had allowed the Council to review the method by which the planning regime was delivered, using additional funds received via the increase to improve the service delivery. As a result of this review, a temporary Senior Environmental Health Officer post, for two years had been identified as required in Health and Community Protection. It was proposed that 0.6FTE of the post be funded through the planning fee increase and the remaining 0.4 FTE be funded from the Service Transformation Reserve. This additional 0.4FTE would accommodate further increases in planning applications through the two year period including HS2 related work. It was important to note that any HS2 related time could be recovered from HS2 rather than funded through the Service Transformation Reserve, therefore, the total of £36,000 over the two years, grade to be determined by Hay, would be the maximum required from the Service Transformation Budget.

The Council operated a number of electric cars as a pilot scheme. The scheme pilot was due to conclude in June 2018 and therefore was being evaluated to determine if the pilot had been successful and if the Council wished to continue the scheme in its current form, with alteration or not. The review was not due to conclude until end of February 2018 and therefore a figure for the scheme was unable to be calculated at this time. Upon conclusion of the review, a further report would be brought to detail any financial implications.

On the 21 February 2017, the Council approved the 2017/18 Budgets and Council Tax. This report set out the 5 Year MTFS. At that point, it was forecast that a further £830,000 of savings were required to be found and achieved to enable the Council to maintain a Balanced Budget.

	2017/18 £'000	2018/19 £'000	2019/20 £'000	2020/21 £'000	2021/22 £'000
Deficit-Savings					
Required(+)/Surplus(-					
) future years		412	201	-202	830
Change on previous		412	211	402	1 022
year		412	-211	-403	1,032

The latest forecasts was presented to the Executive in June 2017 (Fit for the Future Report), August (Budget Review Quarter 1) and November (General Fund Base Budgets).

Since February 2017 the Strategy had been rolled forward another year to maintain a five year projection. This meant that whilst the Council benefited from an increase in Council Tax (increasing by £5 and additional growth), it incurred inflation on its service expenditure (assumed 2%). The net effect of this was a £60,000 reduction in the savings requirement.

There had been several changes to staffing budgets, including the new posts proposed and a £150,000 ongoing Budget for an Apprenticeship Scheme approved within the November 2017 Budget Report. Within the 2018/19 and 2019/20 2 year Pay Offer, the National Living Wage had lead the Local Government Employers to look at how this impacted on lower pay scales. Increases above 2% were proposed to be awarded to all spinal column points below 19. For 2019/20 there would be a complete revision to these Scales to match the proposed new Spinal Column Points. Early Indications such there would be additional costs of some £48,000 in 2018/19 and a further £150,000 in 2019/20. The total on-going costs of all of these amounting to circa £350,000

The Council was scheduled to renew many of its contracts in 2021/22. When the Budget was set in February 2017, it was assumed that the cost of this could amount to £1,182,000. However, latest intelligence suggested that the increases to the National Living Wage and a drop in recycling prices could mean the costs of renewal would be considerably more. Alongside this, some current contracts were inflated annually based upon RPI (at August the prior year) minus 0.5%. The latest forecast cost had increased to £1,700,000, an increase of £518,000.

There had been various other changes related to contract expenditure over the years. These included the transfer of the £83,000 costs for the Grounds Maintenance carried out on HRA land, and the impact of the new property development, which would generate additional recycling credit income but incurred additional costs in servicing these properties of £288,000.

The original assumption for the Council Tax Base for 2018/19 had proven to be overly optimistic. Each year, when the Tax Base was set further increases were factored into future years. This base had now reduced and

lowers future years as well, 2022/23 being £72,000 lower in Council Tax income than previously forecast.

Planning Fee income in 2017/18 had increased with a further £300,000 being factored into the 2017/18 Budget. With the Local Plan being adopted in November 2017, applications would increase further. It had been possible to factor recurrent additional income amounting to just over £0.5 million per annum into future years plus a further £50,000 when adding annual inflation uplifts. These figures excluded the 20% uplift that would be separately ring-fenced.

Investment Interest had been revised to reflect the latest investment rate forecasts provided by Asset Link Services, the Council's Treasury Management Advisors, and the Council's projected balances invested. The Council's investment income had increased by £150,000 per annum above that previously forecast.

When the Budget was presented in February 2017, the Leisure Options Contract had not been finalised. At that time the Strategy assumed £612,000 in the concession fee. The agreement was evaluated on the basis of the overall benefit to the Council over the 10 year contract period. The concession was £610,000 for 2109/20, increasing annually to £1.389m in 2025/26. This had previously been reported to members. In 2022/23 (the final year of the MTFS produced here), the Concession Fee would be £1,230,000, an increase of £618,000 above that previously forecast.

The provisional settlement indicated a tariff adjustment of £237,000 in 2019/20. This had been incorporated into the Strategy from 2019/20.

There had been many more changes to the five year forecast which had a lower impact. The table below summarised them:

	£'000's
Savings Required by 31/3/2021	
(as at February 2017)	830
Roll Forward to 2022/23	-60
Staffing - net	350
Leisure Options	-618
Contracts	518
HRA Grounds Maintenance	-83
Expenditure related to property growth	288
Reduced Council Tax Base growth	72
Planning Fee Income	-550
Investment Interest	-150
Tariff Adjustment	237
Reduced Contributions to Bins & receptacles	-45
Net-various other changes	-90
Savings Required by 31/3/2022	
(as at February 2018)	699

The Council faced a £699k deficit by 2022/23 unless further savings to the same magnitude could be identified and delivered. The profile of these savings was shown in the table below:-

	2017 /18 £'000	2017 /18 Latest £'000	2018 /19 £'000	2019 /20 £'000	2020 /21 £'000	2021 /22 £'000	2022 /23 £'000
Deficit-Savings Required(+)/Surpl us(-) future years	0	0	0	607	81	929	699
Change on previous year	0	0	0	607	-526	848	-230

This forecast assumed that future Fit for the Future Savings would be delivered. These included:-

- Office Relocation £300,000 2021/22
- Alternative use of the Town Hall £85,000 2021/22
- Senior Management review £200,000 2022/23

(NB - Some of these savings could occur at an earlier date)

Officers would continue to look for other Fit for the Future Projects which would yield more savings, with a Fit for the Future Report to be presented to in June 2018.

The Latest Financial Strategy was shown at Appendix 4 to the report.

It had been agreed that £1.5m should be the minimum level for the core General Fund Balance. This balance supported the Council for future unforeseen demands upon its resources. In order to consider a reasonable level of general reserves, a risk assessment had been done and was contained at Appendix 5 to the report. This showed the requirement for the General Fund balance of over £1.5 million against the risks identified above.

The General Fund had many specific Earmarked Reserves. These were attached at Appendix 6 to the report. They showed the actual and projected balances from April 2017, along with the purposes for which each reserve was held.

The reserves which showed a significant change in the overall balance in the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2022 were detailed in Appendix 6 to the report.

In accordance with the Council's Code of Financial Practice, all new and future capital schemes, must be in line with the Council's corporate priorities and a full business cases would be required as part of reports to the Executive for approval. This would identify the means of funding and, where appropriate, an options appraisal exercise would be carried out.

Should there be any additional revenue costs arising from the project, the proposed means of financing such must be included in the Report and Business Plan.

The Capital Programme had been updated throughout the year as new and changes to projects had been approved. In addition to the changes throughout the year, it was proposed to add several new schemes to the Capital Programme as detailed in Appendix 9 to the report. The most notable of these were detailed below:-

Scheme	Year	Amount	Financed From
Desktop	2018/19 to	£343,500	ICT
Infrastructure,	2021/22		Replacement
Storage Area Network			Reserve
(SAN),			
Network Devices LAN			
& WAN,			
Infrastructure			
General,			
Physical Server			
Replacement,			
UPS.			
Rural & Urban	2021/22	£150,000	Capital
Initiatives Grants –			Investment
extension of current			Reserve
programme			
Recycling & Refuse	2021/22	£80,000	Capital
Containers –			Investment
extension of current			Reserve
programme			

Other reports on the Executive agenda in February considered several schemes which impacted on the Capital Programme. These had been incorporated in the Capital Programme as follows:-

Scheme	Year	Amount	Financed From
Acquisition of	2018/19	£710,000	RTB Receipts
Stoneleigh Arms			
Playbox Theatre loan	2018/19	£150,000	Capital
			Investment
			Reserve
Newbold Comyn Arms	2017/18	£350,000	Capital
loan	and		Investment
	2018/19		Reserve
Car Parking	2018/19	£220,000	Parking
Displacement –			Displacement
capital costs			Reserve

In addition to the new projects incorporated, the following capital projects were expected to come forward over the next year:-

Investment in replacement multi storey car parks

- Office relocation
- Europa Way

Slippage to 2018/19 in the General Fund Programme had been incorporated as reported during the year.

In addition, the following table showed the main changes to current schemes that were required to be reported. The full details were within Appendix 9:-

Scheme	Year	Amount	Comments
Desktop	2017/18	-£10,000	Saving
Infrastructure			
Voice over IP	2017/18	-£-31,700	Saving
telephone system			
Leisure Options	2017/18 to	-£919,200	Slippage
	2018/19		
Whitnash Hub	2017/18	£89,900	Increase budget
			for element
			funded from
			S106 payments.
St John's Flood	2017/18 to	-£100,000	Slippage
Alleviation	2018/19		
Pump Room	2017/18 to	-£1,000,000	Slippage
Garden	2018/19		
Restoration			
Leisure Centre	2017/18	£16.833	Funded from sale
Benches, Cycle			of gym
racks etc			equipment.
Recycling and	2017/18 to	Annual Budget	Reduced annual
Refuse	2020/21	reduced to	budget
Containers		£80,000	

Appendix 10 to the report, Part 5 showed the General Fund unallocated capital resources. These totalled £2.687m. The Capital Investment Reserve represented the largest share of this at £1.45m, for which the Council had agreed the minimum balance should be £1m. Whilst the Council did hold other reserves to fund capital projects, it would be noted that these were limited and had been reserved for specific purposes. In addition to the resources shown, within the Housing Investment Resources, the Right to Buy "Any Purposes Capital Receipts" projected at £9.3m (Appendix 10, to the report part 4) were available to fund non Housing schemes.

The latest Housing Investment Programme (HIP) was shown at Appendix 10 part 2.

Appendix 9 to the report detailed variations to the HIP from that previously reported in February 2017. This included changes to current schemes, and slippage from 2016/17.

Appendix 10 to the report part 4 showed the funding of the HIP and the forecast balances at year end until 31 March 2022 after the HIP had been financed.

The Capital receipts primarily related to Right to Buy (RTB) sales. The Council had freedom on how these receipts were utilised, being able to fund General Fund and Housing Capital schemes.

1-4-1 RTB receipts had to be utilised in replacing housing stock that had been purchased from the Council by existing tenants through the RTB scheme. This could be through new build properties (such as Sayer Court), the purchase of existing properties (such as Cloister Way) or buy back of existing council properties previously sold through RTB. However, they could only be used to fund up to 30% of the replacement cost as per RTB regulations. If the funding was not used within a three year period from the date of receipt, the funding would be repayable to the Government, along with interest.

The dates by which the unallocated 1-4-1 RTB balances needed to be used by were as follows:

31/03/2020	31/03/2021	31/03/2022	31/03/2023	31/03/2024
£1,109,900	£1,800,000	£1,800,000	£1,800,000	£1,864,800

. The HRA Capital Investment Reserve was funded by the surpluses generated on the Housing Revenue Account. The HRA Business Plan assumed that this funding would be used for the provision of new HRA stock, and to allow debt repayments on the £136.2m loan taken out to purchase the HRA housing stock to commence from 2052/53.

The Major Repairs Reserve was used to fund capital repairs of the HRA stock. The contributions to this reserve were based on depreciation calculations. It was noted that approval was given by Executive in July 2017 to increase expenditure for fire safety works following a review of high-rise housing stock. Further provision would be sought from Executive if required, for which it would be noted there was over £4.5m projected funding within the Major Repairs Reserve.

Section 106 (S106) payments were received from developers in lieu of them providing new on site affordable homes, enabling the Council to increase the HRA stock or assisting housing associations to provide new dwellings. These S106 payments usually had a time limit attached to them by which time they had to be utilised or they may need to be repaid to the developers.

The Right to Buy Capital Receipts were shown within the sources of Housing Investment Programme funding. As considered previously, these capital receipts were not ring-fenced and could be used for any capital projects. Consequently, as detailed in a separate report to this agenda, it was proposed to use these receipts to fund the acquisition of the Stoneleigh Arms.

The Council was required to determine an authorised borrowing limit in accordance with The Local Government Act 2004, Section 3, and to agree prudential indicators in accordance with the CIPFA Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.

The Indicators were shown at Appendix 12 to the report. Further indicators were included within the Treasury Management Strategy Report.

The New Homes Bonus allocation for £2.482m. This was proposed to be allocated as follows:-

- Waterloo Homes were due to receive £170,287 of this under the Joint Venture with the Council.
- The Council had previously agreed to contribute £500,000 to the planned Whitnash Hub. £150,000 was awarded in 2017/18. It was proposed that the balance of £350,000 was from the 2018/19 NHB allocation. For accounting purposes, this allocation would flow through the Community Projects Reserve.
- For 2014, the Council set aside some monies to commemorate the start of World War One in 1914. It would be appropriate to do likewise to celebrate the centenary of the end of this war. A similar sum £10,500 was recommended from New Homes Bonus. This was proposed to be distributed by the Community Forums.
- In December 2017, it was officially announced that Birmingham would host the 2022 Commonwealth Games. The Council's hosting of the Bowls as part of this was previously reported to Executive in November 2017. Officers had set up a project group as such a prestigious event would need planning so that all facilities were brought up to the highest standards as well as using this opportunity to promote the District and this Council to the world. Clearly, there would be costs involved both before and during the event. Officers had yet to work up detailed plans and budgets. It was therefore proposed that a new Commonwealth Games Reserve should be created to fund this expenditure and £100,000 be set aside. A report on the Games in would be brought to Executive in March of this year which would provide more details on these and the utilisation of the Reserve. Future use of this reserve would be agreed by the Executive.
- In November 2017, the Executive allocated £100,000 to a new Car Park Displacement Plan. For the proposed displacement from Covent Garden Car Park, £423,000 was set aside within the Covent Garden Car Park Reserve in April 2016 within the HQ Replacement Report, alongside £477,000 towards the initial borrowing costs for a new multi-story car park. The likely net costs of displacement in Leamington were being re-assessed. The likely net costs, including costs of works, running costs and changes in income, were likely to exceed the original estimates. In addition, proposals were due to come forward for works on car parks in Warwick, which were likely to

be significant. Consequently, it was proposed to allocate £800,000 to the Car Park Displacement Reserve.

• The Community Projects Reserve currently had a balance of £46,000 out of the original allocation of £868,000 from the 2017/18 New Homes Bonus. It was proposed that the balance of the New Homes Bonus for 2018/19 of £1,051,324 be allocated to the Community Projects Reserve. Demands from this reserve would be subject to future reports to the Executive to agree.

The 2017/18 budget was currently forecast to produce a surplus of £110,300. It was proposed that this balance be added to the Contingency Budget, with any unallocated balance carried forward to add to the  $2018/19 \pm 200,000$  contingency.

The Council did not have an alternative to setting a Budget for the forthcoming year. It could, however, decide to amend the way in which the budget was broken down or not to revise the current year's Budget. The proposed latest 2017/18 and 2018/19 budgets were based upon the most up to date information.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee recognised the challenge of depreciation of our assets within accounts and asked that opportunities to provide funds for replacing and maintaining assets should be taken.

The Committee agreed to add to their work programme a review of the budgeted reserves to ensure they were necessary and appropriate.

The Committee supported the use of new homes bonus for specific projects and not being used to support core general fund service.

The Executive thanked the Scrutiny Committee for their comments and proposed work. They highlighted that the Government Central Support Grant had been reduced by over £4.5million and, based on current estimates, this Council would be paying the Government £250,000 per year instead of receiving the grant. In that context, the performance of this Council had been exceptional and officers should be congratulated because it had enabled the Council to deliver services without cuts, allocate the new homes bonus to projects (rather than fund the day to day work of the Council) and create appropriate reserves for if work was needed.

### **Recommended** to Council that

- (1) the proposed changes to 2017/18
  Budgets detailed in Section 3.2 of the report, be approved;
- (2) the Revised 2017/18 Budget of Net Expenditure of £14,855,500 (Appendix 1) after allocating a surplus of £110,300

- (paragraphs 3.2.1 and 3.2.6 of the report), be approved;
- (3) the Earmarked Reserves Requests at Appendix 2 (paragraph 3.2.5 of the report), be approved;
- (4) the proposed changes to 2018/19 Base Budgets detailed in Section 3.3 of the report, be approved;
- (5) the proposed Budget for 2018/19 with Net Expenditure of £18,742,200 taking into account the changes detailed in section 3.3 of the report and summarised in Appendix 3 to the report, be approved;
- (6) subject to the acceptance of the current Local Government Employers' pay offer, to increase the current Living Wage hourly rate of £8.45 by 2% to £8.62;
- (7) subject to approval of the Budget 2018/19, the Council Tax charges for Warwick District Council for 2018/19 before the addition of Parish/Town Councils, Warwickshire County Council and Warwickshire Police and Crime Commissioner precepts, for each band be agreed by Council as follows:-

	£
Band A	107.91
Band B	125.89
Band C	143.88
Band D	161.86
Band E	197.83
Band F	233.8
Band G	269.77
Band H	323.72

(8) the 2018/19 proposed New Homes Bonus of £2,482,111 be allocated as follows, as detailed in paragraph 3.13.1 of the report

New Homes Bonus - 2018/19 Allocation	£ 2,482,111
Waterloo	-170,287
Whitnash Hub	-350,000
WW1 Commemorations	-10,500
Commonwealth Games - Bowls	-100,000
Car Parks Displacement Reserve	-800,000
Community Projects Reserve	-1,051,324
Total Allocated	-2,482,111

- (9) the Financial Strategy as set out paragraph 4.2 and Appendix 4 to the report, be approved;
- (10) the ICT Replacement and Equipment Renewal Schedules as set out at paragraph 3.10 of the report, be approved;
- (11) the creation of the Planning Investment, Harbury Lane, Commonwealth Games and Homeless Prevention Reserves as set out in paragraph 3.10 of the report, be approved;
- (12) the General Fund Capital and Housing Investment Programmes as detailed in Appendices 10 to the report parts 1 and 2, together with the funding of both programmes as detailed in Appendices 10 to the report parts 3 and 4 and the changes described in the tables in paragraph 3.11 of the report and Appendix 9 to the report, be approved; and

(13) the Prudential indicators as set out in paragraph 3.12 and Appendix 12 to the report, be approved.

(The Portfolio Holders for this item was Councillor Whiting) Forward Plan reference 885

## 106. Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19

The Executive considered a report from Finance that detailed the strategy that the Council would follow in carrying out its treasury management activities in 2018/19.

The Council was required to have an approved Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy within which its Treasury Management operations would be carried out.

No changes had been proposed to this strategy when compared to the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy.

The Local Government Act 2003 required the Council to have regard to the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and to set prudential indicators to ensure the capital programme was affordable, prudent and sustainable. The prudential indicators could be found in Appendix A to the report.

CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice required the annual approval by Council of the Treasury Management Strategy, which should include the Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy.

CIPFA had recently released Consultation on proposed changes to the Treasury Management Code of Practice and Prudential Code but the revised Codes had not been released. When the new versions were made available, officers would review them and if any significant changes were required to this strategy a revised report would be brought to Council for it to consider.

The Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy must have regard to Secretary of State Guidance. The Department for Communities and Local Government had issued a consultation, which would amend the existing guidance. Whilst it was intended that the changes would apply from 2018/19, changes could not be implemented until the revised guidance was formally released. If the revised guidance required a change to the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy, a report would be brought to Council.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations in the report and asked for the equity fund options to be shared with Councillors before this wa considered by Council in February

The Executive highlighted that the Council had out-performed the benchmark for this area of work and, as a result, the Council had used its money more effectively to provide a greater return and therefore reduce the burden on the local tax payer.

The Executive were mindful that some would have concerns about the use of equity funds but with correct checks and balances and an appropriate reserve these were providing a greater return for the Council than if the money was sat in the bank.

There was work in this area that Scrutiny could contribute to and the Portfolio Holder for Finance agreed to liaise with the Chairman of the Committee to identify the approach that would bring the most benefit for the Council.

**Recommended** to Council that it approves the Treasury Management Strategy, Investment Strategy and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy, as appended to the report.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Whiting) Forward Plan ref 888

# 107. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget 2018/19 and Housing Rents

The Executive considered a report from Housing that set out the latest Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budgets in respect of 2017/18 and 2018/19.

The report made the recommendations to Council in respect of setting the 2018/2019 budgets, the proposed changes to council tenant housing rents, garage rents and other charges for 2018/19.

In July 2015, the Government announced that with effect from April 2016, the rents charged for existing tenants by local authority housing landlords should be reduced by 1% per year, for four years. 2018/19 would be the third year of this reduction.

In March 2016, a one year deferral was introduced for supported housing from the reduction of social rents in England of 1%, allowing the Council to continue to apply a CPI (at September) + 1% rent increase in 2016/17.

In 2017/18, the 1% rent reduction was applied to supported housing, with rents in these properties decreasing by 1% a year up to and including 2019/20.

Specialised supporting housing would remain exempt from this policy for mutual / co-operatives, alms houses and Community Land Trusts and refuges. However, this Council did not have any housing which met these criteria.

For new tenancies, landlords were permitted to set the base rent as the Target Social Rent (also known as Formula Rent). In Warwick District this represented a small increase over the social rent charged for tenanted properties and was projected to increase rental income by around £5,800 in 2018/19. However, these rent levels would then be subsequently reduced by 1% at the next annual rent review if the tenancy was still running, to comply with the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016.

The only exception would be in respect of properties at Sayer Court, Leamington, where the Council had previously approved that tenancies within the new development would be let at Warwick Affordable Rent Levels. Whilst the 1% rent decrease would apply to existing tenants, new tenancies established during 2018/19 would be charged at the full Warwick Affordable Rent Value.

Details of all current rents and those proposed as a result of these recommendations were set out in Appendix 1 to the report. A comparison of the Council's social rents with affordable and market rents was set out in Appendix 2 to the report.

The recommendations ensured that the Council was operating in compliance with national policy and guidance on the setting of rents for General Needs and Supported Housing properties.

Garage rent increases were not governed by national guidance. Any increase that reflected costs of the service, demand, market conditions and the potential for income generation could be considered. The HRA Business Plan base assumption was that garage rents would increase in line with inflation. However, the Council did not have in place a formal policy for the setting of rents for garages.

There were waiting lists for a number of garage sites, whilst other sites had far lower demand; where appropriate, these sites were being considered for future redevelopment as part of the overall garage strategy for the future.

Market Research showed that in the private sector, garages were being marketed in the district for on average £80 per month (valuations last reviewed January 2016). The average monthly rent for a Council garage was currently £29.50.

Taking this into consideration, an average increase of £4 per month had been recommended as the most appropriate increase. The additional income generated for the service would help to alleviate the loss of rental income from dwellings and ensure the continuous viability of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan.

Projected income for 2018/19 would, therefore, increase by a net £84,000 compared to 2017/18.

Alongside the rent increase, a review of garage voids had indicated that on average 15% of the total garage stock was void throughout the year, worth £125,000 in potential income.

Taking into consideration the rent increase, and review of void levels alongside existing garage income budgets, for 2018/19 income budget was to increase by £42,000 compared to the 2017/18 income budget.

For tenants, most garage rents would increase by 92p per week (£48 per month), from £7.07 to £7.99. Non-tenants paid VAT on the charge, so it would increase by £1.11 per week, from £8.48 to £9.59.

During 2015, the Council took ownership of 15 shared ownership dwellings at Great Field Drive in southwest Warwick.

Shared owners were required to pay rent on the proportion of their home which they did not own.

The shared ownership properties' rent increases were not governed by the national Policy.

The Council adopted the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) template lease agreement which included a schedule on rent review. Schedule 4 of the lease agreement determined that the rent would be increased by RPI + 0.5% from April 2018.

The Council was required to set a budget for the HRA each year, approving the level of rents and other charges that were levied. The Executive made recommendations to Council that took into account the base budgets for the HRA and current Government guidance on national rent policy.

The dwelling rents had been adjusted to take account of the loss of rent resulting from actual and anticipated changes in property numbers for 2017/18 and 2018/19. This included additional rental income from the five new build properties purchased at Cloister Way which were due to be purchased by and subsequently let to tenants, and changes based on the number of Right-To-Buy sales in 2017/18, and those forecast for 2018/19.

Shared ownership property rents would increase by RPI  $\pm$  0.5%, in accordance with the terms of the lease. As at November 2017, RPI was 3.7%, therefore, the income budget had been increased by £3,000.

The garages rental income budget had been increased by £12,000 to take into account the £4 per month average increase in charges for 2018/19 and current level of voids. This was in addition to the £30,000 budget already included as part of budget setting for a 5% increase (as per the November '17 Executive Report, in turn based on the assumptions underpinning the 2017/18 HRA Business Plan).

The Housing Investment Programme was presented as part of the separate February 2018 report 'General Fund 2018/19 Budget and Council Tax'.

The recommendations would enable the proposed latest Housing Investment Programme to be carried out and contribute available resources to the HRA Capital Investment Reserve for future development whilst maintaining a minimum working balance on the HRA of at least £1.4m in line with Council policy.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations up in the report.

The Executive highlighted that while the reduction rent would reduce income by £750,000, the Council would still be committing £6million investment in properties of which £2.5million was into its high rise properties.

### **Recommended** that

- rents for all tenanted dwellings (excluding shared ownership) be reduced by 1% for 2018/19;
- (2) HRA dwelling rents for all new tenancies created in 2018/19 are set at Target Social (Formula) Rent, or at Warwick Affordable rent for Sayer Court properties;
- (3) garage rents for 2018/19 be increased by an average £4 per month; and
- (4) the latest 2017/18 and 2018/19 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budgets as set out at Appendix 3 to the report, be approved.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Phillips) Forward plan reference 886

## 108. Heating, Lighting and Water Charges 2018/19 - Council Tenants

The Executive considered a report from Housing that set out the proposed recharges to Council housing tenants for the provision of communal heating, lighting and water supply during 2018/19.

Recharges were levied to recover costs of electricity, gas and water supply usage to individual properties within one of the sheltered and the five very sheltered housing schemes, which were provided as part of communal heating and water supplies. The costs of maintaining communal laundry facilities were recharged at those sites benefitting from these facilities under the heading of miscellaneous charges.

The charges necessary to fully recover costs were calculated annually from average consumption over the last three years, updated for current costs and adjusted for one third of any over-recover or under-recovery in previous years. The charges for 2018/19 were calculated on the basis of average consumption from December 2014 to November 2017. The use of an average ensured that seasonal and yearly variations were reflected in the calculation.

In February 2013, the increase required to meet projected Heating & Lighting costs was deemed unaffordable for tenants, so it was agreed to implement a lower increase and to fully recover costs within a five year period. In 2015/2016, it was recommended that where the increase to fully recover costs was higher than 95p per week, the increases be constrained to 95p to ensure the increase was affordable for tenants and continued to move towards full recovery over future years.

From 2016/17, the Council moved towards a policy of full recovery of costs and, to achieve this, it adopted a policy whereby the charges be increased by the lower of, the full amount to achieve full cost recovery or an amount equivalent to 1% of the rent due for the property. This approach enabled full costs recovery to be phased in gradually and ensured that no excessive increases to the charges were made in one year. This was a fair approach as it facilitated the Council implementation of full costs recovery and it ensured tenants were no worse off financially.

The Gas and Electricity contracts for the authority were renegotiated in 2016/17, with savings achieved on the gas contract but an increase on the electricity contract. Any savings / increases would be passed on to tenants in future years through the process detailed above.

As the heating, lighting and water charges were intended to be cost recovery, it was proposed that from 2019/20 the charges were agreed following this methodology by the Head of Housing and Head of Finance, in consultation with the relevant portfolio holders. Any changes in the income budgets would be reflected in the HRA Rent setting report.

If any proposed charges were thought to be unaffordable for tenants, charges could be set at any level between no increase and the proposed charges, with the understanding that this meant that the shortfall would either be funded from the rents of all tenants, the majority of whom would be paying their own electricity and gas costs directly, or recovered from charges in future years when some flats could be occupied by new tenants who had not benefited from the reduced charges.

For those Heating/Lighting and water charges which had been set below the level necessary to recover the full cost, a higher charge could be set to better reflect the costs. For instance, at Tannery Court, tenants could be charged a further £3.82 per week (£198.64 per year). However, this would be above 1% of rent, which was the agreed maximum.

Charges could be set above the real costs of recovery. This would mean tenants of these schemes would have no choice but to pay above the real cost of these utilities, as the communal nature of these services meant they could not choose their own energy suppliers. This would not be fair.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations up in the report.

#### **Recommended** that

- (1) the revised recharges for Council tenants relating to heating, lighting, water and miscellaneous charges for the rent year commencing 2<sup>nd</sup> April 2018, as set out in Appendix 1 & Appendix 2 to the minutes be approved; and
- (2) from 2019/20 the agreement of the heating lighting and water charges is delegated to the Head of Housing and Head of Finance in consultation with the relevant portfolio holders, with charges calculated in accordance with the methodology within paragraphs 3.2 and 3.4 of the report.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Phillips) Forward Plan reference 887

### 109. Creation of additional car parking provision in Leamington

The Executive considered a report from Neighbourhood Services that sought approval for the necessary consents to allow the Section 106 (S106) agreement to be finalised and brought forward a series of proposals for new car parking provision, predominantly on Council owned land, which would be in addition to the applicant's proposals.

The Planning Committee of 9 January 2018 approved the linked planning applications for the Covent Garden and Riverside House elements of the HQ relocation project, subject to the finalisation of S106 Agreements for both sites. The conditional approval for the Covent Garden application required the applicant to submit a car park displacement strategy for the period between closure of the existing car parks and the opening of the new multi-storey car park. The applicant's proposals required the consent of the Council regarding car parks within their control.

Following the publication of the agenda for the meeting, one of the proposals for new car parking, contained within the report, was withdrawn. The Leader also ensured that the Executive had all seen and considered the submission from Royal Leamington Spa Town Council on this matter.

Two linked planning applications were submitted by PSP Warwick LLP (LLP), the joint venture vehicle that this Council had established with its private sector partner, Public Sector Plc, for the redevelopment of the site of the current Covent Garden surface and multi-storey car parks (application W/17/1700) for new HQ offices for the Council, a new multi-storey car park and 44 apartments and for the subsequent redevelopment of the Riverside House site for up to 170 new homes (application W/17/1701).

The two applications were approved by Planning Committee on 9 January 2018, subject to the agreement of s106 Agreements for both applications. The applicant's offer of a Car Park Displacement Strategy, in respect of application W/17/1700 was accepted by Planning Committee and agreement of this strategy would be a requirement of the s106 agreement for the Covent Garden site. This strategy would cover the period between closure of the existing car parks, projected to be in the last quarter of 2018/19 to avoid the 2018 Christmas shopping period and the opening of the new multi-storey car park, projected to be during the third quarter of 2020/21 in time for the 2020 Christmas period. The loss of car parking at Covent Garden was, therefore, projected to only to cover a single Christmas/New Year period; 2019/20.

In developing their proposed strategy, the LLP had approached the Council for permission to submit a planning application to allow the Riverside House car park to be used for public car parking at weekends. Having trialled public car parking at this site on a temporary basis in the lead up to Christmas 2017, officers were happy that, subject to the LLP bearing the cost of on and off-site enhancements to pedestrian access and signage within the car park and on the route to the town centre, the proposal was viable and should be supported in order to facilitate the applicant's proposed Car Park Displacement Strategy.

The applicant was likely to agree increased prioritisation of short stay car parking within the town centre as part of the s106 Agreement. It was recommended that consultation on changes to the ticketing and payment system at the St. Peter's car park to enable short stay parking to be prioritised, based on the proposals set out at Appendix One to the report. It was proposed that the consultation should be part of the annual consultation process on revised fees and charges for Council owned car parks, to provide certainty to the applicant and the Local Planning Authority that the proposed changes could form part of strategy that would be included within the s106 agreement.

The consultation for setting the 2019 Off-Street Car Parking Orders would commence in July 2018, allowing the new orders to be approved by this Council through the normal Car Parking fees and charges process and subsequently by the County Council to allow revised tariffs to be introduced from 1 January 2019. However, Members were reminded that, subject to the approval of the 2019 Off-Street Parking Orders, whilst the proposed revised charges for the St. Peter's car park would be implemented from 1 January 2019 the proposed changes to allocate the lower floors for short stay parking only, as set out In Appendix One to the

report would only be implemented at the point that the displacement strategy was required, i.e. the point at which the Covent Garden car parks actually closed.

Although the LLP's proposed Car Park Displacement Strategy was likely to be acceptable in terms of the Local Planning Authority agreeing that the s106 Agreement requirement, it was anticipated that there would still be an under provision of parking capacity during peak demand periods. The detailed analysis completed by the LLP as part of the planning application process indicated a shortfall of c.297 car parking spaces compared to current provision at the 1pm weekday demand peak and of c.152 spaces at the weekend peak, during the implementation of their proposals.

These figures would reduce to c.197 on weekdays and c.52 at weekends when the 100 space Council owned car parks at Station Approach re-open in 2019, in time for the 2019/20 Christmas/New Year period, the one peak period when the Covent Garden car parks were closed.

Despite the Station Approach car parking becoming operational during the Covent Garden closure period, it was recommended that the Council created new car parking provision to support the needs of the town centre and minimise any adverse economic impacts while the new multi-storey car park was being built.

The proposals provided for an additional c.167 off-street car parking places which, subject to approval would:

- reduce the projected weekday peak shortfall to c.130 spaces during the period between the proposed Covent Garden closure in early 2019 and the re-opening of the new Station Approach car parking in late 2019;
- reduce the projected weekday peak shortfall to c.30 spaces at the current weekday demand peak from late 2019 until the new multistorey car park opens in late 2020; and
- create additional town centre car parking capacity of c.15 spaces at the current weekend demand peak when the Covent Garden car parks close, rising to an additional c.115 spaces when the new Station Approach car parking becomes available.

Site plans of the proposed locations of the new car parking were set out at Appendix Three to the report and details of the proposed work at each site were set out at Appendix Four to the report. Preliminary discussions with the Planning and Highway Authorities and the Cultural Services team had indicated that all the proposed locations were viable, although detailed planning applications would be required.

The detailed work required to prepare and obtain the necessary planning permissions and any other necessary consents and to undertake the necessary works would be undertaken with the aim of ensuring the new provision would be available before the Covent Garden car parks were closed.

It would be proposed that the new off-street surface car parking provision created at Archery Road and Princes Drive would be retained on a permanent basis. This additional provision of c.87 spaces, along with the new 617 space multi-storey car park at Covent Garden would therefore be available to meet future parking demand growth forecasts and be built into the Council's emerging Car Park Strategy.

It was proposed that any additional provision created at Court Street would be a temporary measure provided during the period that the Covent Garden car parks were closed, allowing the Council to review future options for these sites when the new multi-storey car park opened to ensure that opportunities to support the development of the Creative Quarter for Leamington were maximised.

As detailed plans were developed for each site, the potential to provide electric vehicle recharging points at the proposed new locations would be considered, particularly at those sites intended to be retained for permanent car parking provision at the end of the temporary displacement period.

A proposal within the General Fund budget report, elsewhere on the agenda recommended allocating a proportion of the 2018/19 New Homes Bonus allocation that the Council would receive into the Car Park Displacement Reserve.

The indicative capital cost of delivering the new car parking provision at the proposed sites was  $\pounds674,000$  (excluding the cost of acquiring the Stoneleigh Arms site which was a separate matter to be considered) and, subject to approval of the Budget report, it was proposed that these costs would be met from the Car Park Displacement Reserve.

It was recommended that, authority be delegated to the Heads of Finance and Neighbourhood Services to develop the proposals for each site and establish firm costings to deliver the proposals, in consultation with their respective Portfolio Holders. Resource to support this work was available through the Project Manager - Car Parks post within Neighbourhood Services. The use of delegated powers would ensure that the approved works could be delivered within the timescales required, i.e. before the closure of the Covent Garden car parks.

Any variances from the indicative cost would be reported through the normal budget reporting process or, if significant and unable to be contained within the unallocated funding within the Car Park Displacement Reserve, by a special report to Executive.

Public consultation on the closure of the Covent Garden car park had taken place as part of the Leamington car park user survey undertaken to inform the development of the draft Car Parking Strategy and additional dialogue had been held with town centre stakeholders on potential displacement options during the closure period. The proposals set out were new options and it was proposed that a Development Review Forum be arranged to

allow them to be examined further as they were developed. It was anticipated that planning applications would be required for each of the proposed sites and these would be subject to an appropriate public consultation process for each application.

Proposed charges for the new car parks were set out at Appendix Two to the report. It was proposed that consultation on these charges was included as part of the annual consultation process on revised fees and charges for Council owned car parks. However, subject to the approval of the 2019 Off-Street Parking Orders, the proposed charges for the new car parking provision would only be implemented at the point that each site became operational.

Taking into account the net income loss of £770k for the period that the Covent Garden site was unavailable for parking and the additional income of £105k that would be generated from the sites set out in recommendation 2.2, the net revenue costs amounted to £665k for the closure period. The majority of this cost could be funded from the balance on the Car Park Displacement Reserve and the sums allocated towards displacement costs within the Covent Garden Multi Storey Car Park Reserve, with any remaining shortfall considered ahead of the setting of the 2019/20 budget and these proposals factored into the Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy.

An alternative option, was to do nothing in addition to car park displacement strategy being offered by the LLP. However, although the LLP's proposed Car Park Displacement Strategy would be acceptable in terms of the Local Planning Authority agreeing the s106 Agreement requirement, it was anticipated that there would be an under provision of parking capacity during peak demand periods. As such, this option had been discounted as it would not support the Council's objective to support thriving town centres.

A range of alternative sites had been considered but ultimately discounted due to planning constraints or viability and/or operational issues. These discounted sites were:

- Campion Hills
- Victoria Park
- Station Approach
- Chiltern Railways Leamington Station Car Park, Old Warwick Road
- Morrison's Car Park, Old Warwick Road
- Newbold Comyn
- Newbold Terrace East
- Pump Room Gardens
- Portobello site, off Rugby Road
- Edmonscote Field
- Site of the former Ford Foundry car park
- Chandos Street

The reasons why each site was, after careful consideration ultimately discounted were set out at Appendix Five to the report.

The Joint meeting of the Finance & Audit and Overview & Scrutiny Committee recognised the significant public interest in this item, there was a significant debate on this with all parties contributing to the discussion and there were concerns about the proposals for a number of reasons, however, on being put to the vote the majority supported the recommendations 2.1 to 2.6.

In addition, the Committee made two recommendations to the Executive these were

- (1) to explore if Riverside House could be used in weekdays as well as weekends; and
- (2) that any further options brought forward should be consulted on with stakeholders.

Councillor Mrs Knight addressed the Executive as Ward Councillor. In her view, there was no easy solution to the proposal and she suggested that all parties get round a table and work together with the community and businesses to find a solution.

Councillor Naimo addressed the Executive as Labour Group observer. She explained that this was not party political and there were different ways and ideas about how this problem could be resolved. She did not feel this was a strategy and overall there would be a shortfall in parking spaces. She asked that Councillors be informed of who took the decision not to consult on these proposals.

Councillor Quinney , addressed the Executive explaining that in his view he did not think the shortfall had been given enough consideration and the other options should be considered in more detail, with the reasons for them not being considered passed to Councillors.

Councillor Boad addressed the Committee as Liberal Democrat Observer. He recognised that the multi storey car park at Covent Garden was in a poor condition that meant it would need to be replaced and the decision to close it could need to be taken at any day. Therefore, any time we had needed to be used wisely to look at locations which had not been fully considered previously.

In response Councillor Thompson, thanked local residents for their articulated comments regarding Christchurch Gardens and why it should not be considered. He reminded Members that air quality had improved in recent years and, while the particulate levels were below legal limits, we should aim to keep these as low as possible. The new Covent Garden Car Park would have the infrastructure in place so that all spaces could be converted to electric charging points if needed. He took time to disagree with the proposal from Leamington Town Council because it was not fair on residents to move more parking on street and further out of town. He concluded by highlighting the need to help reduce the reliance on cars but this would need to be done in partnership with Warwickshire County Council.

Councillor Whiting highlighted that the options had been carefully considered and that the Executive had to make the best decision for the community as a whole and as a result some people would be unhappy. He also reminded the Executive that to some extent all these plans were temporary because the lifespan of them would be circa 20 years and this far into the future it would not be easy to predict what transport would look like or operate.

Councillor Butler reminded the Executive that it was important to get the plans moving to enable the demolition and rebuild to only impact on one Christmas trading period for retailers.

Councillor Coker explained that the removal and replacement of any car park would be a significant challenge. He recognised that the Riverside House car park was not used last year, but then there were spaces because Covent Garden was open. The plans for increasing parking by Victoria Park was also long term to enable more people to park near the Park and encourage more use of it. He also reminded Members that there was the long term aim of increasing shopping provision in Chandos Street on the car park site and by decking this now could limit the options longer term.

Councillor Grainger highlighted that discussion had taken place with Friends of Victoria Park and Archery Road residents. This plan along with improved lighting within the park would significantly enhance this area and encourage people into the area. She reminded Members that all other car parks within the towns were ones that the users had to pay for and this plan brought the Archery Road and Princes drive sites in line with the others. There was consultation last year with Covent Garden car park users. This established that unless there was a park and ride with free parking nobody would use it. Chandos Street would be an obvious option to put car parking decks on but the return on investment, due to the basement underneath and the need to have secure foundations, made it an unviable proposal. There would be a Development Review Forum for each of the sites and there was the opportunity for further discussion via the Towns Neighbourhood Plan.

Councillor Grainger highlighted that discussions were ongoing with Warwickshire County Council and encouraged all to lobby their respective County Councillor. In addition, she asked for options to be shared with Officers so that these could be investigated. She concluded by reminding the Executive that there was a car park in Warwick that the Council owned which along with Covent Garden may have to be closed any day. Therefore, action needed to be taken now so that the risk of these being closed without displacement available could be mitigated against.

Councillor Mobbs concluded by explaining the Council wanted to what was best for the District overall including the towns and its rural community. He believed that the health of the business community in the town centres was key to this. He reminded all that this was the start and a process and this was what Council's independent Planning Committee had asked for. He recognised the concerns of residents but decisions needed to be taken.

Councillor Mobbs pointed out that recommendation 2.1 bullet point three and recommendation 2.6 were matters for Council to determine and therefore if agreed would be considered by Council on 21 February 2018.

The recommendations in the report, along with the two additional proposals from Overview & Scrutiny Committee were proposed, duly seconded and

#### **Resolved** that

- (1) the Planning Committee of 9 January 2018 agreed that a car park displacement strategy, covering the period between the closure of the existing Covent Garden car parks, currently providing 468 car parking spaces and the opening of the new 617 space multi-storey car park, would be a required clause within the s106 agreement required for planning consent for W/17/1700 planning application for the Covent Garden site and, to allow the applicant to finalise an appropriate agreement with the Local Planning Authority, be noted;
- (2) permission for the applicant to submit a planning application for the use of the existing Riverside House car park as public car parking at weekends, throughout the closure period be approved;
- (3) the Head of Neighbourhood Services, in consultation with the Neighbourhood Portfolio Holder, be authorised to submit any necessary planning and/or other consent applications to allow additional car parking provision to be created and operated at the following locations in Leamington, as shown at Appendix Three to the report, in order to support the needs of the town centre, during the period that the Covent Garden car parks are closed:
  - c.50 permanent surface car parking spaces at Princes Drive;
  - c.37 permanent surface car parking spaces at Archery Road;
  - c.40 temporary surface car parking spaces at Court Street;

- a further c.40 temporary surface car parking spaces at Court Street, subject to agreement of private and confidential item 18 elsewhere on this agenda;
- (4) the indicative capital costs of providing the additional car parking at the locations (£674,000), be noted and that these costs be funded from the Car Park Displacement Reserve subject to agreement of the 2018/19 General Fund Budget and Council Tax;
- (5) the Heads of Finance and
  Neighbourhood Services, in consultation
  with their respective Portfolio Holders,
  be authorised to draw down funding
  from the Car Park Displacement
  Reserve to deliver the development of
  the new car parking provision at the
  sites in (3) subject to the necessary
  consents having being obtained;
- (6) the release of monies from the Car Park Displacement Reserve and the Covent Garden Multi Storey Car Park Reserve towards funding the estimated £665k net revenue cost of the displacement period, be approved and that these figures are updated for inclusion within the 2019/20 Budget with any funding shortfall then considered ahead of being included within the future Medium Term Financial Strategy and within the 2019/20 and 2020/21 Budgets;
- (7) officers further explore if Riverside House Car Park can be used in weekdays as well as weekends; and
- (8) any further options brought forward should be consulted on with stakeholders.

## **Recommended** that Council:

(1) undertakes consultation on changes to the current ticketing and payment system at the Council owned St. Peter's multi-storey car park, based on the proposals set out at Appendix One to the report, within the annual consultation for

car parking fees and charges to enable these to be implemented at the point, later within the financial year 2018/19 that the existing Covent Garden car parks are closed; and

(2) consultation on the proposed charging schedules for the new car parking provision, as set out in Appendix Two to the report, is included within the annual consultation for car parking fees and charges to allow implementation for that part of the financial year 2018/19 when the new provision would become available.

(Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Grainger) Forward plan Reference 844

(The meeting ended at 8.24 pm)

## **Heating, Lighting and Miscellaneous Charges**

It is recommended that from  $2^{nd}$  April 2018 charges covering heating, lighting and miscellaneous charges Should be varied as follows:

Heating, Lighting and Miscellaneous Charges	Current Charge per Week 2017/18 £	Charge To Fully Recover Costs 2018/19	Proposed Charge per Week 2018/19 £	Proposed Increase/ (Decrease) per Week 2018/19 £	Proposed Change 2018/19 %		
Acorn Court, Stockton Grove, Lillington, Royal Leamington Spa							
Nos. 1 - 12, 14 - 41	£11.60	£10.25	£10.25	-£1.35	-11.6%		
Nos. 43, 44, 46 and 47 (Misc. Charge only)	£0.60	£0.60	£0.60	+£0.00	+0.0%		
Tannery Court, Bertie Road, Kenilworth							
Nos. 1, 2, 4 – 6, 7a, 8 - 12, 22a, 14 - 40	£8.35	£13.40	£9.58	+£1.23	+14.7%		
No. 3	£12.25	£19.80	£13.48	+£1.23	+10.0%		
Yeomanry Close, Priory Road, Warwick							
Nos. 1 - 12, 14 - 32	£9.15	£9.56	£9.56	£0.41	4.5%		
James Court, Weston Close, Warwick							
Nos. 1 - 12, 14 - 26	£10.35	£8.35	£8.35	-£2.00	-19.3%		
Chandos Court, Chandos Street, Royal Lea	mington Spa						
Nos. 1 - 12, 11a, 25a, 14 – 46	£11.20	£10.15	£10.15	- £1.05	-9.4%		
Radcliffe Gardens, Brunswick Street, Roya	l Leamington	Spa					
Bedsits and 1 bedroom flats	£7.80	£7.38	£7.38	-£0.42	-5.4%		
2 bedroom flats	£11.62	£11.44	£11.44	-£0.18	-1.6%		

## Appendix 2

# **Water Charges**

It is recommended that from 2<sup>nd</sup> April 2018 water charges should be varied as follows:

Water Charges	Current Charge per Week 2017/18 £	Proposed Charge per Week 2018/19 £	Proposed Increase/ (Decrease) per Week 2018/19 £	Proposed Change 2018/19 %			
Acorn Court, Stockton Grove, Lillington, Royal Leamington Spa							
Nos. 1 - 12, 14 - 41, 43 - 47	£3.95	£4.30	+£0.35	+8.8%			
Tannery Court, Bertie Road, Kenilworth							
Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 - 6, 7a, 8 - 12, 22a, 14 - 40	£4.20	£3.85	-£0.35	-8.3%			
Yeomanry Close, Priory Road, Warwick							
Nos. 1 - 12, 14 - 32, 33 and 34	£2.65	£2.80	+£0.15	+5.6%			
James Court, Weston Close, Warwick							
Nos. 1 - 12, 14 – 28	£2.90	£2.90	+£0.00	+0.0%			
Chandos Court, Chandos Street, Royal Lea	mington Spa	•					
Nos. 1 - 12, 11a, 25a, 14 - 46, 47	£3.30	£3.30	+£0.00	+0.0%			